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Values
Integrity, mutual respect for 
each other, professionalism, 
accountability, care and  
“Tha Dhamtse”. 

Our Vision
To be the best electric utility in the region committed 
to quality services, maximization of value, and 
sustainable socio-economic development in pursuit 
of GNH.

Our Mission
To Transmit, Distribute and Supply Electricity within 
the Country, wheel Electricity for Export, and Practice 
Good Corporate Governance.



Company Profile
Bhutan Power Corporation Limited (BPC) has its genesis in the erstwhile 
Department of Power under the then Ministry of Trade and Industry, Royal 
Government of Bhutan. It was launched as a Public Utility Company on 1st 
July 2002 with the primary objective of bringing greater efficiency in the 
delivery of electricity supply services in Bhutan. With the establishment of 
Druk Holding and Investments Limited (DHI) in 2007, BPC was transferred 
to DHI as one of its foremost and biggest subsidiary companies. 

With about 2,500 employees and net worth of about Nu. 21 billion  at the 
end of 2016, BPC is one of the largest corporations in Bhutan. 
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Directors’ Report on the Performance of Bhutan 
Power Corporation Limited for the year 2016

1.	 Introduction 

On behalf of the Board of Directors of 
Bhutan Power Corporation Limited, I 
have the privilege to present this report 
on the performance of the Company 
for the period covering 1st January 
2016 to 31st December 2016 to Druk 
Holding and Investments Ltd. (DHI), the 
sole shareholder, and to other relevant 
stakeholders.

2.	 System Performance

The demand for electricity consumption 
for domestic purpose has been steady 
and the peak demand recorded was 
335.87 MW as compared to 336.52 MW 
in the previous year. With the addition 
of 8,872 customers during the year, 
BPC today serves more than 177,151 
customers. The additional customers 
were mostly a result of connection of 
rural homes in the countryside brought 
about by extensive Rural Electrification 
programme of the Company. 

To meet the domestic demand for 
electricity 2084.687 Million Units (MU) 
of energy was purchased from Druk 
Green Power Corporation Limited 
(DGPC) during the year, as compared to 
2142.167 MU during the previous year.  
Of the total purchases, royalty energy 
accounted for 1122.443 MU for the year 
as compared to 1093.593 MU in the 
previous year. The internal generation 
from embedded mini and micro hydel 

plants owned by the company was 
11.221 MU during the year.

The total sale for the year was 2,008.901 
MU as compared to 2,057.141 MU in the 
previous year reflecting a reduction of 
about 7.38% over the year. The energy 
wheeled by BPC for export to India for 
DGPC increased to 5,779.321 MU from 
5,541.759 MU in the previous year. 

I am happy to report that BPC has 
been maintaining its Transmission 
and Distribution (T&D) losses at limits 
comparable within the region. Of the 
total energy of 7,877.694 MU received 
by the system during the year, 7,788.221 
MU was utilized.  This translates the 
global energy loss for the year to 1.14% 
as compared to 1.35% in the previous 
year. The domestic T&D loss for the 
period is 4.26% as compared to 4.83% 
in the previous year. The company 
has been able to maintain its losses 
within permissible limits due to timely 
preventive and planned maintenance and 
up-gradation of its network system.

The load flow within the system is 
coordinated and monitored by the 
Bhutan Power System Operator 
(BPSO). The BPSO monitors the power 
systems operations online for carrying 
out effective dispatching of load and 
coordination with generating plants of 
DGPC and the Indian Eastern Region 
Load Dispatch Center at Kolkata.
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3.	 The State of the Company’s 
Affairs

3.1	 Financial Position
The gross assets of the Company for 
the year stands at Nu.27,963.65 million 
as compared to Nu.25,185.46 million 
in 2015. The net worth of the Company 
is Nu.21,785.91 million as compared 
to Nu.19,035.58 million in 2015. The 
gross assets added during the year was 
Nu.1,580.63 million as compared to 
Nu.1,500.34 million in 2015.

3.2	 Results of Operation
The Company’s sources of revenue 
and income are sale of electricity, 
construction contracts, wheeling charges 
and other income. The gross revenue 
for the year was Nu.11,757.02 million 
as compared to Nu. 9,769.65 million in 
2015. The growth in revenue was 20% 
compared to 34% in 2015.

The revenue from electricity grew 
by 4.6% from Nu 4,588.08 million in 
2015 to Nu 4,798.754 million in 2016. 
The previous year’s growth was 14%. 
The decrease in growth is attributable 
to the tariff remaining constant, as 
there was no revision during the year.
Wheeling revenue increased by 4% from 
Nu.632.27 million in 2015 to Nu.658.84 
million in 2016.Income from construction 
contract grew by 41% from Nu.4,282.06 
million in 2015 to Nu.6,017.82 million 
in 2016. Income from other sources 
increased by 9% from Nu.257.43 million 
in 2015 to Nu.281.60 million in 2016. 
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The major expenditure heads of the 
company are on the purchase of 
electricity, consumption of construction 
materials and sub-contracting charges, 
operation and maintenance expenses, 
employee benefits expenses, finance 
costs, loss on foreign currency 
fluctuation, depreciation and amortization 
expenses and other expenses. Total 
expense for the year was Nu 9,546.49 
million as compared to Nu 7,788.22 
million of the previous year. 

Current tax has been provisionally 
assessed at Nu 577.72 million and 
deferred tax of Nu 84.83 million for the 
year. For the previous year it was Nu 
519.78 million and Nu 71.09 million 
respectively.

Profit before income tax was Nu 2,210.53 
million as comparedto Nu 1,971.62 
million in the previous year; a growth of 
about 12 %. Net profit for the year was 
Nu 1,547.98 million as compared to Nu 
1,380.74 million in 2015. The basic as 
well as diluted earnings per share, for 
the year, was Nu 188.20 as against Nu 
168.38 for the previous year.

4.	 Transfer to Reserves

In line with the asset risk mitigation policy 
of the Company, an amount of Nu. 6.32 
million, equivalent to 0.4% of the Nu. 
1,580.63 million net asset added during 
the year will be added to the Company’s 
Asset Replacement Reserve. With this 

transfer, the total cumulative amount 
under this reserve will stand at Nu 99.74 
million. 

5.	 Recommendation for payment 
of Dividend

The Company is recommending dividend 
of Nu 1,449,029,909, equivalent to 95% 
of its total Comprehensive Income of 
Nu 1,525,294,641 for the year. This 
translates to an earning of Nu 176.17 
per share meeting the expectation 
of the shareholder. For the previous 
year, dividend of Nu 1,281,655, 
159, equivalent to 95% of the total 
Comprehensive Income and representing 
dividend of Nu. 155.82 per share was 
paid.

6.	 Explanation or information 
on every reservation, 
qualification or adverse 
remarks contained in the 
auditor’s report. 

The auditors have issued an unqualified 
Audit report for the year 2016.

7.	 Corporate Governance 

The Company complied with the CG 
Code issued by DHI. Amongst other 
things, the Company’s Board had 11 
meetings and 10 meetings of various 
Board Committees, primarily Board 
Tender Committee and Board Audit and 
Risk Committee. 
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Considering risk management as an integral 
part of the Corporate Governance, Risk 
Management Division (RMD) in the company 
was instituted and RMD has completed its 
second year on August 2016. 

Risk Management in the company started 
off with the identification of key risks faced 
by each department. While some risks 
were specific to a particular Department, 
many were common to most Departments. 
These risks are compiled as Risk Register 
at two levels – Departmental Risk Register 
and Corporate Risk Register. Some of the 
significant risks flagged in the Risk Registers 
are those related to ICT/SAP, aging T&D 
networks, performance/under performance of 
ESDs, etc.

8.	 Corporate Social Responsibility

The Corporate Social Responsibility of 
the company is guided by the Company 
Guidelines on Corporate Social 
Responsibility 2013 issued by DHI. BPC 
conducted Electrical Training for the 
Gerab Dratshang Monks from all over 
the country. The objective was to provide 
basic knowledge on house wiring, repair & 
maintenance and safety measures pertaining 
to electricity considering the difficulties faced 
by monks in remote Dratshangs, monasteries 
and various religious institutions. A total 
of 130 monks and 2 nuns attended the 
training. The basic knowledge, exposure 
and experience rendered from the electrical 
training is expected to assist the monks 
in solving minor internal electrical faults 
on their own without having to rely on our 

line personnel in case of emergencies and 
urgencies.

The company also contributes in various 
small ways to help meet the constitutional 
mandate of maintaining a minimum of sixty 
percent of Bhutan’s total land under forest 
cover for all time. During the year BPC 
participated in the mass tree plantation 
initiative organized by the Tendrel Initiatives 
spearheaded by IMS, Thimphu. The 
Company also planted trees in and around 
Jungshina to mark the Social Forestry Day. 

In support of human cause, the company 
organized blood donation campaigns; it 
received a certificate of appreciation from the 
Ministry of Health in recognition of the effort.

9.	 Operational Highlights

The Operational Highlights are summarized 
below:

9.1	 Power System Expansion Programs
In line with its licensed activities and 
mandates, the Company undertakes 
continuous investments for system 
expansion. The following are the major 
ongoing as well as new initiatives undertaken 
during the year for power system expansion:  
a)	 Construction of 220/33kV Substation at 

Dagapela, Dagana

b)	 Construction of 132kV Double Circuit 
transmission line from Kanglung to 
Phuntshotang, Phuntshothang to 
Motanga and Motanga to Nganglam. 
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c)	 Construction of 132/33kV 
substation at Motanga, Samdrup 
Jongkhar and 132kV bay extension 
at Kanglung and Nganglam 
substation. 

d)	 Construction of 66kV transmission 
line from Thimphu to Gasa. 

e)	 Construction of 66/33/11kV 
Substation at Pangbesa, Paro and 
66kV Double Circuit transmission 
line (LILO to the substation) at 
Pangbesa. 

f)	 Construction of 66kV transmission 
line from Jemina to Changedaphu, 
Thimphu

The company is also engaged in the 
construction of Associated Transmission 
System (ATS) for the Hydro Electric 
Project Authorities and the following are 
the works at hand / new works initiated 
for the year:  

a)	 Construction of two numbers 400 
kV D/C transmission lines from 
pothead yard of Punatsangchhu-I 
Hydroelectric Project to 
Lhamoizingkha is taken up by 
BPC as deposit work for PHPA I 
for the evacuation of power from 
Punatsangchhu-I Hydroelectric 
Project.

b)	 Construction of two numbers 
400kV D/C transmission lines 
from pothead yard of Mangdechhu 
Hydroelectric Project to Jigmeling 
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is taken up by BPC as deposit 
work for MHPA for the evacuation 
of power from Mangdechhu 
Hydroelectric Project. 

c)	 Construction of one number 400 
kV D/C transmission line from 
pothead yard of Punatsangchhu-II 
Hydroelectric Project to Jigmeling 
is taken up by BPC as deposit 
work for PHPA II for the evacuation 
of power from Punatsangchhu-II 
Hydroelectric Project.

d)	 Construction of 400/220kV GIS ICT 
substation at Jigmeling, Sarpang 
as a deposit work from MHPA.

e)	 Construction of 132kV Double 
Circuit transmission line from 
Merung to Corlung, 132/33kV 
substation at Corlung in 
Trashiyangtse and 33 kV Sub-
transmission line is taken up 
by BPC as deposit work for 
Kholongchhu Hydroelectric 
Project for providing construction 
power supply to the Kholongchhu 
Hydroelectric Project.

f)	 Construction of 1 No. 400 kV D/C 
(Quad) from Jigmeling to Indo-
Bhutan Border as a deposit work 
from MHPA.

g)	 Construction of 1 No. 132 kV D/C 
from Mangdechhu to Yurmoo 
substation as a deposit work from 
MHPA.
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h)	 Construction of 1 No. 132 
kV D/C from pothead yard of 
Nikachhu HEP to pothead yard of 
Mangdechhu HEP as a deposit 
work from THyE.

9.2	 Rural Electrification (RE)
Bhutan 2020 - A Vision for Peace, 
Prosperity and Happiness, envisioned 
to provide electricity for all by 2020. 
In line with the vision of His Majesty 
the Fourth Druk Gyalpo, the Company 
initially targeted to provide electricity 
for all by 2017. However, the Royal 
Government revised the target in its 
10th Five Year Plan and entrusted the 
Company to provide electricity for all by 
2013 with the on-grid electrification of 
40,257 households. The company tried 
its best to meet the target,and at the end 
of the 10th FYP it was able to achieve 
94% coverage. Today, the company has 
achieved 99.5% coverage. By the end 
of 2017, the Company will be achieving 
electricity for all with the electrification 
of Lingshi under Thimphu Dzongkhag, 
Lunana under Gasa Dzongkhag and 
Jigmecholing under Sarpang Dzongkhag. 
Meanwhile, BPC will continue to meet 
requests and requirements for new 
connections emanating from RE fill-ins 
for new households. 

The Company faced certain challenges 
in Last Mile RE connectivity. One of the 
major challenges was the inaccessibility 
of work sites and the difficulty of 
transporting required materials to such 
sites. This was coupled with harsh 

weather conditions, difficult geographical 
terrains and scattered work sites. The 
severe working conditions made it 
difficult to recruit and retain laborers at 
the work sites.  In some cases, BPC did 
not receive required support from the 
community, which further delayed the 
progress of RE works. 

9.3	 System Improvement Works
System improvement is a continuous 
activity in the Company. It is necessary 
in order to improve supply reliability and 
meet the increasing demand for power. 
Also, continual system improvement 
helps to improve safety and reduce 
energy loss. 

In the distribution system, besides 
replacement of old conductors, up-
gradation of transformers, replacement of 
overloaded conductors and transformers, 
conversion of bare conductors to LV 
ABC, the Distribution & Customer 
Services Department (DCSD) carried out 
the following activities: 

a)	 Construction of 33kV OH lines for 
Kholongchu Project, 

b)	 Construction of 33/11kV substation 
at Khalangzi, Mongar, 

c)	 Construction of LV UG distribution 
network for Merak village, 

d)	 Supply and construction of 
33/11kV, 2x5 MVA GIS Substation, 
Lungtenphu, 
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e)	 Supply and construction of 33/11kV, 
2x3 MVA Substation, Sipsoo, 
Samtse, 

f)	 Up-gradation of 33/11kV, 5MVA 
substation to 33/11kV, 2x5 MVA 
Substation, Samtse

g)	 Signing of a contract with M/s Merx 
Exponere Media Private Ltd for the 
Technical Museum at Paro. 

Further, for the improvement of customer 
services, DCSD developed and 
distributed Customer Service Charter 
2016 and carried out required system 
adjustments for real time transactions 
using Bank of Bhutan’s  MBoB facility. 

In the transmission system, the 
Transmission Department (TD) carried 
out up-gradation of the Paro Substation 
and Singyegaon Substation, re-alignment 
of S/C 66kV Phuentsholing- Singyegaon 
transmission line, re-alignment 
works at 132kV Dewathang-Motanga 
Transmission Line, commissioning 
of 8MVA Transformer at Watsa and 
retrofitting of old EPAC3000 with new 
MiCOM P442 Numerical distance 
protection relays in substations in the 
eastern Bhutan by Control and Protection 
Division. 

In order to meet its mandates, the 
company also formed two new 
departments viz. Renewable Energy 
Department (RED) and Information 
& Communication Department (ICD), 
during the year.

RED was established with the mandate 
to serve as focal point of contact between 
BPC and the various stakeholders on 
all matters related to renewable energy. 
The department is mandated to revamp 
all the mini and micro hydroelectric 
plants under the company. Besides, 
based on feasibility, the department 
shall undertake activities related to the 
enhancement of  capacity, increase of 
efficiency and automation of the power 
plants. The department will also carry 
out the feasibility of building new mini 
hydropower generation projects for 
reliable power supply to the area. RED 
completed the rehabilitation of Chumey 
Mini Hydropower Plant  on March 17, 
2016; a contract was signed between 
BPC and EGAT in August 2016, for 
the ‘Rehabilitation and Automation of 
the Thimphu Mini Hydropower Plant at 
Jungshina. 

On the other hand, ICD was formed 
with keyman dates to operate &maintain 
the National Fiber Optic Network, 
drive BPC’s business growth by 
extending access to Information and 
Communication Technologies (ICTs) and 
for successful operation & sustainability 
of SAP ERP system at BPC. As of today, 
fiber optic network has been extended 
to all the 20 Dzongkhags, 200 Gewogs, 
196 Community Centers, all major 
Hydropower Plants, BPC’s ESDs spread 
across the country, IT Tech Park and the 
Royal Academy. The department also 
maintains the Nation’s international ICT 
gateway, which runs via Gelephu and 
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Phuentsholing into India. The RGoB is 
also in the process of rolling out fiber to 
hospitals, colleges, central schools and 
regional government offices. Currently 
BPC houses a Tier-III DataCenter where 
all the critical services such as mail, SAP 
ERP, Cloud Storage server and Unified 
Communication are hosted locally that 
supports and facilitates BPC’s business 
processes around the clock. With the 
recent establishment of ITD’s own R&D 
lab, the Company aspires to come up 
with product and process innovations 
as well as ICT tools with the potential 
to bring cost savings and system 
improvements. 

10.	 Human Resources 
Management

The Company’s policy considers 
human resource as its main asset for its 
success. Thus, it is imperative for the 
Company to have the right quality and 
quantity of people at the right place. 

In 2015, the Company had temporarily 
held up recruitment as the management 
was in the process of assessing its 
manpower in line with BPC HR Master 
Plan (2014 – 2020). As such, only 23 
urgent requirements were recruited in 
2015. Therefore, in 2016 the Company 
recruited 164 employees in various 
positions to replace employees who 
resigned, to meet the requirements of the 
two new departments and to take up the 
132kV Kholongchu Project in Trashigang. 
Further, in 2016 nine employees were 

transferred to BPC from other DHI 
Owned Companies, while nine BPC 
employees who were on contract were 
regularized. With the resignation of  87 
employees in 2016, total manpower 
strength of the Company at the end of 
the year was 2441.  

During the year, the company developed 
Recruitment and Selection Guideline 
to clarify and standardize recruitment 
processes in line with current legislations 
and best practices.

10.1	 Human Resource Development
The Company HR policy states that in 
order to keep up with the continuing 
changes and market demands, the 
Company shall equip employees with 
the right qualification, knowledge, skills, 
and attitude to achieve overall objectives 
of the Company and to provide high 
standards of professional services to 
the public.   HR development initiatives 
are also designed to attract and retain 
the best talent and to motivate existing 
employees.   

The year 2016 was a very successful 
year in terms of HR training and 
development. The Company provided 
a total of 3,266 man-days of training, 
consisting of in-country as well as ex-
country short term training. 

In order to develop its internal HR 
development capacity, the Company 
established a Training Center in Begana. 
Located 17 kilometers away from 
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Thimphu, the center has four classrooms 
and can accommodate more than 100 
trainees at a time.  It also has lodging 
and recreational facilities. In 2016, 95% 
of the Company’s in-country trainings 
were conducted at the center.

As per its Long Term Training policy, 
the company granted two fully funded 
Scholarship in 2016 to pursue Masters 
in Engineering (Transmission Power 
System Planning and Design) and  
Masters in Information Technology. The 
Company also provided one partially 
funded scholarship to pursue Masters in 
Power System Engineering.  

The Company also signed a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) 
with the following external agencies 
and trained 236 employees under the 
arrangements:

i)	 Korea Electric Power Corporation 
(KEPCO) to develop technical and 
business cooperation, support each 
other through technical assistance, 
sharing of knowledge, joint work, 
exchanges of information and 
experience in the field of electricity 
sector and business development.

ii)	 Electricity Generating Authority 
of Thailand (EGAT) to develop 
technical and business cooperation 
with BPC and share and support 
each other through technical 
assistance, sharing of knowledge, 
training, and exchange programs 
as well as business development.

iii)	 Metropolitan Electricity Authority, 
Thailand (MEA)  for exchange 
of information, exchange of 
technology, deputation of 
personnel, on-the-job training 
&customized training, and;

iv)	 Asian Institute of Technology (AIT), 
Thailand for mutual cooperation 
in promoting, participating and 
delivering postgraduate degree 
programs and short courses and 
conducting training and building 
capacity of professional working in 
BPC. 

10.2	 Other activities
The Company’s foundation day (BPC 
DAY)was celebrated at Garpang, 
Bumthang. This was a departure from 
the usual practice of observing the 
day at the Company’s headquarters in 
Thimphu. A Management Retreat was 
held at Basochhu, Wangdue, to review 
performances as well as to discuss 
and finalise action plans to improve the 
Company’s performance. 

The company believes that sports and 
recreation are critical for the quality 
of life and wellbeing of employees. 
Guided by this belief, the company 
provides opportunities to its employees 
to participate in sports and recreational 
activities conducted within and outside 
the company.

In 2016, employees participated in 
various sports activities conducted by 
various agencies. During the year, the 
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Company won the Football Tournament 
organized by DHI for and amongst DHI 
Owned Companies and the Samdrup 
Jongkhar Open Football Tournament. 
The Company also emerged runners 
up of the Tsirang Women Football 
Tournament and the Veteran Badminton 
Championship held in Thimphu. 

Challenges

Some of the major challenges faced by 
the Company in its pursuit of expanding 
its infrastructure network system and to 
provide uninterrupted and reliable power 
supply to its customers were:

Right of way and clearance issue for 
new power infrastructures and their 
constructions.

Shifting and relocating of the existing 
lines at all voltage levels.

Disruption in supply in the vast grid 
network of power system due to force 
majeure conditions (wind, storm, thunder, 
lightening, snow, rain and sometimes 
man made).
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ANNEXURE 1: ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE 
 

 
 
Note: 
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The Board of Directors and the 
Management of BPC are committed 
towards ensuring good corporate 
governance practices in the company. 
Good corporate governance practices 
are implemented and maintained at all 
times in the Company so as to enhance 
shareholder’s values consistent with 
the principles and recommendations for 
best practices set out in the Corporate 
Governance Code issued by DHI.
The company is pleased to present 
below various aspects, which describe 
the manner in which it has applied the 
Principles of the Code during the year 
2016.

A.	 The Board

i)	 Board Charter
The Board Charter sets out the 
principles for the operations of the 
Board of Directors, including their roles, 
responsibilities and powers. The Charter 
is in line with the Corporate Governance 
code of DHI and ensures that all Board 
members are aware of their duties and 
responsibilities. 

ii)	 Composition of the Board
Currently, the Board constitutes of seven 
(7) members, including the Managing 
Director, five Independent Directors and 
one Non-Independent Director. This 
composition ensures that the company’s 
Board has a majority of independent 
directors at all times as per the Corporate 
Governance Code Clause 2.4.2.ii. 

The composition of the Board also shows 
that there is a diversity and balance 
of skills, competence, knowledge and 
experience to enhance objective decision 
making as published in the code. 

iii)	 Board Responsibilities
The Board’s responsibilities are as 
reflected in the Corporate Governance 
code Clause 2.4.1

B.	 Board Committees

In keeping with good corporate 
governance practices, the company 
has the following Board Committees to 
assist the Board in the execution of its 
responsibilities:
i)	 Board Audit and Risk Committee
ii)	 Board Tender Committee
iii)	 Board HR Committee

The Board appoints the members and 
Chairperson of each Committee. Each 
Board Committee operates under clearly 
defined terms of reference approved by 
the Board.

i)	 Board Audit and Risk Committee
The objective of the Board Audit and Risk 
Committee (BARC) is, among others, 
to provide assurance to the Board by 
conducting objective and independent 
review of financial, operational, and 
administrative transactions and 
decisions. The Committee is also 
responsible for ensuring effective internal 
controls and risk management system at 
the company. 

Corporate Governance



Annual Report | 2016 25     

The Company used the Board Audit Committee Charter as defined in the DHI Corporate 
Governance Code, Appendix 2, pg.37, to define the duties and responsibilities of the 
committee. 

The BARC of the company comprises of the following members, all being independent 
Directors, with the Chairman appointed by the Board:

Name of Committee Members Designation
Mr. Lhaba Tshering, Chairperson Chief Planning Officer, PPD, GNHC
Mr. Singye Dorji CWO, Wood Craft Centre
Mr. Karma P. Dorji Chief Engineer, DHPS, MOEA
Ms. Deki Wangmo Dy. Chief Budget, Dept. of National Budget, MOF

ii)	 Board Tender Committee
The primary objective of the Board Tender Committee (BTC), is to ensure that the 
company’s procurement of goods, works and services are conducted as per defined 
systems and processes. 

The Tender Committee of the company comprises the following members, two 
independent Directors, one Non-independent Director and one Executive Director, with 
the Chairman nominated by the Board

Name of Committee Members Designation
Mr. Karma P Dorji, Chairperson 
(Independent Director)

Chief Engineer, DHPS, MOEA

Ms. Deki Wangmo, Member (Independent 
Director)

Dy. Chief Budget, Dept. National Budget, 
MOF

Mr. Om Prakash Nirola, Member 
(Non-independent Director) Associate Director, CPD, DHI

Mr. Gem Tshering, Member (Executive 
Director) MD, BPC

iii)	 Board HR Committee
The function of the Board Human Resource Committee (BHRC) is to assess proposals 
related to the human resource issues recommended by the Management for approval 
and/or recommendation to the BPC Board. The BHRC may also direct the management 
to undertake studies and present proposals to the Committee. The BHRC of the 
company comprises of the following members, all being appointed by the Board from 
time to time.  The Head of HR is the member secretary of the Committee.



26 Annual Report | 2016

Name of Committee Members Designation
Mr. Om Prakash Nirola, Chairperson 
(Non-independent Director) Associate Director, CPD, DHI

Dasho Tshering Dorji, Member 
(Independent Director) Secretary, MOFA

Mr. Singye Dorji, Member (Independent Director) CEO, Woodcraft Centre
Mr. Gem Tshering, Member (Executive Director) MD, BPC

C. 	 Board Process

i.	 Board meetings
In 2016, 11 Board meetings were held 
and the attendance of the Directors are 
presented below:

Name of Board 
Directors Attendance

Dasho Tshering Dorji 9
Ms. Deki Wangmo 7
Mr. Om Prakash Nirola 7
Mr. Lhaba Tshering 6
Mr. Singye Dorji 11
Mr. Karma P Dorji 9
Mr. Gem Tshering 8

ii     Director’s Remuneration 
As in the previous year, the Board 
Directors received a fixed amount 
of money as a sitting fee. As such, 
the remuneration is not based on 
commission or a percentage of profits or 
turnover. 

Each Director is paid a sitting fee of Nu 
8,000 (eight thousand) and Nu. 5,000 
(five thousand) per sitting for every board 
meeting and board committee meeting 
respectively.  

The remuneration of the Board Directors 
for the year 2016 is as follows:

Directors Fees
Full Board Nu. 521,000.00
Board Audit 
Committee Nu. 50,000.00

Board Tender 
Committee Nu. 130,000.00

Total Nu. 701,000.00

D.	 Risk Management and Internal 
Control

The Board also takes responsibility 
to identify, isolate and manage 
significant risks within the company’s 
business environment. The Risk 
Management Division (RMD) of the 
company completed its second year on 
August 2016. As a good practice, risk 
management in BPC started off with 
the identification of key risks faced by 
each department, at the beginning of 
the year. While some risks were specific 
to a particular Department, many 
were common across departments. 
These risks were then compiled in the 
form of a Risk Register at two levels 
– Departmental Risk Register and 
Corporate Risk Register. Some of the 
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significant risks flagged in the Risk 
Registers related to ICT/SAP, aging 
Transmission and Distribution networks, 
performance/under performance of 
Electricity Services Divisions, etc. 
The Management is responsible for 
implementing the measures and activities 
for risk management. It also provides 
assurance to the board adequate 
systems and processes are in place 
for risk management. On its part, the 
board, through the Board Audit and 
Risk Committee, monitors and reviews 
the various internal control and risk 
management mechanisms in place.

Corporate Social Responsibility

In line with the DHI Corporate Social 
responsibility Guideline – 2013, 
the company ensures to implement 
meaningful and sustainable CSR 
programs under three basic categories 
viz. legal compliance, operation and 
charitable contributions. 

The objective of CSR is to provide 
support to the government and be 
responsible for the better environment, 
improved community and society’s lives 
around which the company operates. 
Further, in line with its business 
operation, the company also aims to 
minimize and mitigate the impact of its 
businesses on the environment and 
society through various programs such 
as planting trees, donating blood and 
making charity contribution. 

In 2016, BPC contributed Nu. 
9,086,575.06 for various activities within 
the CSR budget approved by DHI.
The CSR initiatives carried out in 2016 
were as follows:

i)	 Operation Contribution

a)	 Monk Training
In 2016 BPC conducted electrical 
training for the Gerab Dratshang monks 
from all over the country. The training 
was conducted in two (2) batches 
from September 5 to 16, 2016 and 
September 19 to 30, 2016 with the 
objective to provide basic knowledge 
on house wiring, repair & maintenance 
and safety measures pertaining to 
electricity considering the difficulties 
faced by monks in remote Dratshangs, 
monasteries and various religious 
institutions. Various topics including 
safety and basic tools, familiarization 
and identification of wiring materials, 
installation and testing of various types of 
domestic wiring, estimating and costing 
of domestic wiring, installation, testing 
and commissioning of earthing system 
and cables, MCB, main switch sizing 
and basic firefighting techniques were 
covered during the  training.

In total 132 monks (65 monks in batch 
I and 67 monks in Batch II including 
two nuns) attended the training.  The 
company spent a total of Nu. 537,235.82 
for the above training.
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b)	 Tree Plantation
To compensate the impact of the 
company’s business on the environment, 
the company initiated tree plantation 
in Jungzhina, Thimphu in 2016. The 
company also participated in the 108000 
tendrel tree plantation held across 
the country in dedication of his Royal 
Highness, the Gyalsey. Further, BPC 
also sponsored the plantation of 8552 
seedlings in Sarpang Dzongkhag, for 
which, BPC was also conferred with 
a certificate of appreciation from the 
Tendrel Initiative Board. 

BPC has contributed a total of Nu. 
515,000.00 for the tree plantation in 
Sarpang Dzongkhag.

ii.	 Charitable Contribution

The company also sponsored and 
made donations for few numbers of 
restoration and renovation of religious 
sites, philanthropic requests, NGOs, 
cultural and sport events and youth 
events in 2016. The company initiated 
the LED lighting of Trongsa Dzong to 
commemorate the 109th National Day, 
2016 celebration. Further, blood donation 
initiative was also held as an annual 
event to contribute to society’s need in 
small way. 

BPC has contributed Nu. 8,034,339.24 
under the charitable contribution. 

Monks trained at Bagana
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i)	 Annual Turnover for 2016 was Nu 
11,757.019 million representing an 
overall growth by 20.46% from the 
previous year

ii)	 The revenue earned from electricity 
sale was Nu 4,798.755 million

iii)	 The revenue earned from wheeling 
was Nu 658.842 million

iv)	 The revenue earned from 
construction contracts was Nu. 
6,017.820 million

v)	 Other revenue earned was Nu 
281.602 million

vi)	 The average tariff for the year was 
Nu 2.375 per kWh.

vii)	 Total expense for the year was Nu 
9,546.491 million

viii)	 Cash flow for the year was negative 
by (1,752.150) million

ix)	 Capital investment for the year was 
Nu 2,576.495 million

x)	 Total capital works expenditure 
(including Construction Contract 
Works) was Nu 8, 518.73 million

xi)	 Property, Plant and Equipment at 
cost was Nu 26,928.263 million of 
which Nu 2,814.925 million is in 
Capital Work in Progress.

xii)	 The total Shareholders Equity is 
Nu 13,928.563 million of which Nu 
8,225.118 is the Paid up capital.

xiii)	 The total dept outstanding for the 
year was Nu 6,177.739.

Key Financial Ratios

Particulars 2016 2015
Fixed Assets Turnover Ratio (Sales / Average Net Block) 0.69 0.60
Current Ratio (Current Assets / Current Liabilities) 1.38 1.81
Quick Ratio (Current Asset-Inventory / Current Liabilities) 1.31 1.67
Interest Coverage Ratio (Profit before interest & tax/Interest) 19.76 16.87
Debt Service Coverage Ratio (PAT+Depreciation+Interest / (Interest 
+Principal Repayment) 6.45 7.32

Gearing Ratio (Debt/Net Fixed Asset) 25.39% 26.86%
Debt Equity Ratio (Debt /average Equity) 44.69% 45.97%
Return on Asset (Profit after tax)/average net total assets 9.12% 8.43%
Return on Equity (return available/ Average Equity) 11.20% 10.32%

Financial Performance Highlights
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Year in REVIEW

January
- Award of Meritorious and Fast track
- Appointment of Regional Directors
- Award of National Competence certificate
- Inauguration of BPC Day Care Center

February
- Contract award for The Royal Academy , Pangbesa, Paro
- Contract award for the construction of SS at Corlung
- Contract award for the construction of TL to DHI-Infra

August
- Award of Meritorious 
promotion
- Induction for new recruits

April
- Appointment 
of GM, ICD 
and GM, RED
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May
-Contract agreement 
between BPC and 
Power Grid, India
-MoU signing with 
EGAT

March
- Handing-taking over 
Tala asset

November
- Inauguration of Paro illumination 
Project

September
- Launching  real time transaction of BPC bill payment 
via MBOB

June
-certification contract signing with Ms 

Bureau Veritas Certification Pvt. Ltd

-Participating during Social Forestry day

December
-Management 
Retreat at Basochhu

July
-14th BPC day celebration in 
Garpang, Bumthang
-IT service center launched

October
-BPC won the DHI football tournament Cup
-Electrical training for monks of Gerab Dratshang
-Safety Awareness Campaign



32 Annual Report | 2016

1)	 Implementation of M-BoB with 
real time transaction

During the year, BPC launched the real 
time transaction of its bill payment via 
M-BoB application on 1st September 
2016. The alignment of real time 
transaction was inaugurated by the 
Managing Director of BPC and the Chief 
Technical Officer of BOB in the BPC 
boardroom.

Earlier payments for BPC bills via M-BoB 
were not real-time transaction as the 
transactions had to be updated manually 

in the BPC system which took at least 
one day. This was problematic for those 
customers who tried to pay their bills on 
the last day of the deadline. With the 
launch of real time transactions facility, 
payments are updated instantly in both 
the BPC and Bank of Bhutan systems 
solving issues, which the customers 
faced earlier. Meanwhile, the companies 
are working together to enable the 
payment of BPC bills via Internet banking 
on a real time basis.
2)	 LV UG distribution network for 

Merak Village UG Project

Launching of Real-time transaction of BPC bill payment via M-BoB with BOB

Operational Highlights



Annual Report | 2016 33     

During the year, BPC successfully 
completed the procurement & laying of 
Under Ground (UG) cables at Merak 
Village under Trashigang Dzongkhag. 
The total of 244 households are 
connected through UG network and the 
total LT line length is 1.574 kms. The 
project was completed in a time span of 

3.3 months at a cost of 5.673 million.

With this LV UG network, the aesthetic 
and uniqueness of Merak village will be 
preserved in long run.

3)	 Technical Museum

Acontract agreement was signed 
with M/s Merx Exponere Media Pvt. 
Limited for the Design, Fabrication 
and Execution of Technical Museum at 
Jangsa, Paro at a contract price of Nu. 
48.5 million. Jangsa mini hydel, which 
is the second oldest hydropower plant, 
was inaugurated by the Third King Jigme 
Dorji Wangchuk in 1968. The project is 
expected to complete in 2017. It would 
be the first of its kind in Bhutan.

4)	 Contract Signed between BPC 
and EGAT for “Rehabilitation 
& Automation of Thimphu Mini 

Hydropower Plant” (8th August 
2016) 

The Contract for “Rehabilitation and 
Automation of Thimphu Mini Hydro 
Power Plant, Thimphu” was signed 
between BPC and Electricity Generating 
Authority of Thailand on December 08, 
2016 at contract value of USD 400,000 
(USD Four Hundred Thousand only). 
The duration of the Contract is 8 (Eight) 
months.

Thimphu Mini Hydro Power Plant has 
very historical importance in the power 
sector of Bhutan since it is the oldest 
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power plant and marks the starting of 
hydropower development in Bhutan. The 
power house was inaugurated by His 
Royal Highness Namgay Wangchuck 
on February 8, 1967. This year, marked 
the 50th Year of operation and BPC 

would like to coincide the complete 
rehabilitation work with the 50th 
unwavering operation of the plant. The 
Rehabilitation and Automation work will 
be managed, monitored and supervised 
by Renewable Energy Department.  

Contract signed between BPC and EGAT for rehabilitation of Thimphu mini hydel
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Statement of Financial Position 
As at

Note December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

ASSETS 
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 20,081,667,343 18,437,820,812
Intangible assets 6 22,270,869 56,559,502
Investments 7 400,000,000 -
Trade & other receivables 8 199,330 199,330
Long-term loans and advances 9 21,232,269 420,069,277
Other non-current assets 10 889,398,616 847,963,353
Total non-current assets 21,414,768,427 19,762,612,274

Current assets
Inventories 11 338,720,596 425,349,163
Amounts due from customers for contract work 12 2,730,129,875 485,810,049
Trade & other receivables 13 153,550,758 105,495,521
Cash and cash equivalents 14 1,283,776,538 3,035,926,578
Short-term loans and advances 15 42,058,006 38,066,217
Other current assets 16 2,000,645,551 1,332,199,617
Total current assets 6,548,881,324 5,422,847,145
TOTALASSETS 27,963,649,751 25,185,459,419

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholder’s Equity
Share Capital 17 8,225,118,000 8,225,118,000
Retained earnings 5,125,414,610 4,497,478,996
Investment Reserve 616,601,916 1,016,601,916
Asset Replacement  Reserve 93,413,037 87,673,037
Actuarial gain/(loss) (131,984,736) (109,300,713)
Total Shareholder’s equity 13,928,562,827 13,717,571,236

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 18 5,895,655,075 5,953,118,042 
Deferred grants 19 1,133,960,055 898,683,522 
Deferred Customer’s Contribution 20 2,979,976 3,092,428 
Employee benefit liabilities 21 426,750,457 382,524,097 
Deferred Income Tax liabilities (net) 22 636,294,353 551,463,686 
Other non-current liabilities 23 1,206,772,305 681,339,770 
Total Non-current liabilities 9,302,412,221 8,470,221,545
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Statement of Financial Position Contd.,

As at

Note December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

Current liabilities
Borrowings 18 282,084,353 196,757,453 
Deferred grants 19 33,107,110 24,891,343 
Deferred Customer Contribution 20 112,452 112,452 
Amounts due to customers for contract work 12 2,476,269,941 930,279,750 
Trade & other payables 24 222,151,875 411,674,304 
Employee benefit liabilities 21 209,905,567 202,815,969 
Income tax payable (net of advances) 25 370,899,141 336,611,845 
Other current liabilities 26 1,138,144,264 894,523,522
Total current liabilities 4,732,674,703 2,997,666,638
Total liabilities 14,035,086,924 11,467,888,183 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 27,963,649,751 25,185,459,419 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
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As at

Note December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

Revenue
Income from sale of electricity        4,798,754,607        4,588,080,855 
Income from construction contracts 27        6,017,820,095        4,282,061,608 
Wheeling charges             658,842,555 632,268,364 
Other income 28           281,602,102 257,430,496
Total Revenue       11,757,019,359        9,759,841,323

 
Expenditure  
Purchase of electricity          1,408,260,254 1,550,124,223

Construction material consumed and 
sub-contracting charges          5,471,306,437 3,892,900,878

Operation and maintenance expenses 29           407,466,635 311,798,776
Employee benefit expenses 30           960,513,177 876,916,718
Finance costs 31           117,805,753 124,257,613
Losson foreign currency fluctuation (net)               72,895,465 43,028
Depreciation and amortization expenses             914,215,675 861,450,835
Other expenses 32           194,027,339 170,730,654
Total Expenditure        9,546,490,735 7,788,222,725
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Statement of Comprehensive Income (contd.)

As at

Note December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

Profit before income tax        2,210,528,624 1,971,618,598
Tax expenses 25    
- Current tax           577,719,294 519,783,722
- Deferred tax             84,830,666 71,093,899
Net Profit for the year        1,547,978,664 1,380,740,977

   
Earnings per share (‘EPS’) 33

Basic EPS (Nu.)
Diluted EPS(Nu.)

188.20
188.20

.38
168.38

Profit for the year        1,547,978,664 1,380,740,977
Other comprehensive income/(loss):  
Actuarial gain/ (loss)           (22,684,023) (31,630,283)
Total comprehensive income for the year        1,525,294,641 1,349,110,694

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Cash flows from / (used in) operating activities
Profit before income tax 2,210,528,624 1,971,618,598
Adjustments for:  
Depreciation and amortization 914,215,675 861,450,835
Net loss / (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment 43,426,266 (1,502,701)
Interest expenses 117,805,752 124,257,613
Interest income (155,514,882) (128,593,192)
Write-back/off of Provision for doubtful debts (10,937,210) 9,807,021
Write-back of Provision of obsolescence of Material (1,387,460) (9,399,991)
Net Prior period adjustment against retained earnings:
    - for foreign exchange difference on Borrowings
    - for deferred government grant

(26,119,025)
350,975

-
-

Liabilities no longer required, written back (3,047,961) (22,586)
Amortization of grants (29,757,220) (23,959,455)
Amortization of deferred customer’s contribution (112,452) (112,452)
Operating profit before working capital changes 3,059,451,082 2,803,543,690

Decrease / (Increase) in Inventories 88,016,027 (172,493,961)
Decrease / (Increase) in amount due from customer contract 
works (2,244,319,826) 37,492,626

Decrease / (Increase) in Trade and other receivables (138,750,973) 291,995,073
Increase / (Decrease) in Amounts due to customers for con-
tract work 1,545,990,191 (777,124,114)

Increase / (Decrease) in Trade and other payables 613,538,266 473,919,215
Net cash generated from operating activities before in-
come tax 2,923,924,767 2,657,332,529

Income tax paid, net of refunds received (543,431,998) (416,353,149)
Net cash generated from operating activities 2,380,492,769 2,240,979,380

Cash flows from / (used in) investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment and Intangible 
assets (2,576,495,055) (883,680,609)

Receipt of government grants 273,249,520 8,209,286
Investment in shares of Dungsam Cement Corporation Lim-
ited (400,000,000) -

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 2,415,376 26,767,169
Inter-Corporate deposit to Holding Company 400,000,000 -



Annual Report | 2016 51     

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Redemption of Investment -   300,000,000
Deposits made in Fixed Deposits with Banks (net) (572,562,256) (350,807,725)
Interest received 114,674,106 141,155,252
Net cash generated from investing activities (2,758,718,309) (758,356,627)

Cash flows from / (used in) financing activities
Proceeds from Borrowings 223,095,280 161,612,637
Issue of share Capital -   34,927,000
Repayment of Borrowings (195,231,346) (196,757,453)
Interest paid (120,133,275) (124,312,421)
Payment of dividend on ordinary shares (1,281,655,159) (702,082,000)
Net cash used in financing activities (1,373,924,500) (826,612,237)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (1,752,150,040) 656,010,516
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 3,035,926,578 2,379,916,062
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 1,283,776,538 3,035,926,578

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.	 General information

Bhutan Power Corporation Limited 
(‘Company’) is a wholly owned subsidiary 
of Druk Holding & Investments (DHI), A 
Royal Government of Bhutan undertaking. 
The Company has been incorporated and 
registered under The Companies Act of the 
Kingdom of Bhutan, 2016 with limited liability. 
The registered office of the Company is 
located at Thimphu, Bhutan. 

The Company is engaged in supply of 
electricity to the residents of the Kingdom 
of Bhutan and wheeling of electricity from 
the large Hydropower Plants in Bhutan for 
export to India. The Company also carries out 
business of construction of electricity project 
and distribution network system. 

The Company owns, operates and 
maintains the entire electricity transmission 
and distribution network in the Kingdom 
of Bhutan including 19 Mini and Micro 
Hydropower Plants. Apart from construction 
of distribution network system, the Company 
is also mandated to construct the associated 
Transmission Lines and Substations required 
for evacuation of power from Hydropower 
Plants to the Bhutan-India border.

The financial statements of the Company for 
the year ended December 31, 2016 were 
authorized for issue in accordance with the 
resolution of the Board of Directors dated 
March 2, 2017.

2.	 Bhutanese Accounting Standards 
(BAS)

2.1 	 The Ministry of Finance embarked on 
the process of developing Accounting 
Standards to promote high quality 
financial reporting which are consistent 
with international practices. Pursuant 
to this development, the Ministry of 
Economic Affairs of Royal Government 
of Bhutan has issued the Accounting 
Standard Rules for Companies in Bhutan, 
2012, notifying the Bhutan Accounting 
Standards (‘BAS’) to be implemented by 
the Companies in Bhutan in three phases 
(I, II and III) with effect from January 1, 
2013. 

	 Consequently, the Company has followed 
the BAS notified for implementation with 
effect from January 1, 2013 in preparing 
the financial statements from the year 
2013 onwards to the extent as applicable 
to the Company as under. 

Notes to Financial Statements

No. BAS 
Phase – I (w.e.f. January 1, 2013) 

1 BAS 1 Presentation of financial statements
2 BAS 2 Inventories
3 BAS 7 Cash flow statements
4 BAS 8 Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors 
5 BAS 10 Events after the balance sheet date
6 BAS 11 Construction contracts
7 BAS 12 Income taxes
8 BAS 16 Property, plant and equipment
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No. BAS 
Phase – I (w.e.f. January 1, 2013) 

9 BAS 18 Revenue
10 BAS 20 Accounting for Govt. Grants and Disclosure of Govt. Assistance
11 BAS 21 The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates
12 BAS 23 Borrowing costs
13 BAS 24 Related party disclosures
14 BAS 33 Earnings per share
15 BAS 37 Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 

Phase – II (w.e.f. January 1, 2016)
16 BAS 19 Employee Benefits
17 BAS 36 Impairment of Assets
18 BAS 38 Intangible Assets

2.2	 The Company has not early adopted 
those paragraphs of BAS which are 
having linkages to BAS which are to 
be implemented under Phase III (with 
effect from January 01, 2018). These 
paragraphs would be applied when the 
respective BAS will be adopted. However, 
in the cases where such paragraphs 
have been early adopted the same have 
been disclosed in the respective note/
accounting policy.

2.3	 The BAS of Phase – II, applicable from 
January, 2016 were already adopted 
with effect from January 1, 2013 along 
with the adoption of the BAS of Phase –I 
and the changes in accounting policies 
consequent on adoption of above BAS 
had been accounted for in accordance 
with the transition provisions of the 
respective BAS and has been accounted 
for retrospectively by restating the 
comparatives from the previous GAAP to 
BAS with effect from January 1, 2013.

3.	 Summary of Significant Accounting 
Policies

3.1	 Basis of preparation
	 These financial statements are general 

purpose financial statements that have 
been prepared in accordance and to 

comply with theBAS,the Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles and  the 
relevant provisions of The Companies 
Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 2016 
including the Accounting Standard Rules 
for Companies in Bhutan, 2012.

	
	 The said financial statements have 

been prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting with the historical cost 
convention and going concern basis 
except as stated otherwise in the 
Financial Statements.The preparation 
of the Financial Statements requires 
the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates and judgments. It also requires 
management to exercise judgment in 
the process of applying the Company’s 
accounting policies and the reported 
amounts of revenue, expenses, assets 
and liabilities may differ from the 
estimates. In areas involving a higher 
degree of judgment or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates 
are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in Note 4.

3.2	 Capital Management
	 The Company manages its funds / capital 

so as to ensure that funds are available to 
meet future commitments, working capital 
requirements and also the dividend 
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and tax expectations of the its holding 
CompanyDruk Holding & Investments 
and Royal Government of Bhutan. Capital 
expenditure is mostly met from operating 
cash flows and fixed term borrowing are 
made only for major capital projects and 
such borrowings are repaid when the 
project is completed and is generating 
positive cash flows.

3.3	 Foreign currency translation
a)	 Functional and presentation 

currency
	 Items included in the financial 

statements are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Company 
operates referred to as the 
“functional currency”. The functional 
currency and presentation currency 
of the Company is Bhutanese 
Ngultrum.

b)	 Transactions and balances
	 Foreign currency transactions 

are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions or valuation where 
items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

3.4	 Property, plant and equipment
	 The cost of an item of property, plant and 

equipment is recognized as an asset 
if, and only if, it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Company and the 
cost can be measured reliably.

	 Property, plant and equipment are 
initially recognized at historical cost. 
The historical cost of property, plant and 
equipment is determined as the fair value 

of the asset at the date of acquisition and 
comprises its net purchase price after 
deducting for any trade discount and 
rebates, including import duties and non-
refundable purchase taxes, any directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to 
its working condition and location for its 
intended use. 

	 The cost of self-constructed assets 
includes the borrowing costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of qualifying 
assets(Refer note 3.18 below for 
accounting policy of borrowing cost). 
The cost of self-constructed assets not 
put to use and advances paid towards 
the acquisition of property, plant and 
equipment outstanding at each Statement 
of Financial Position date, are disclosed 
as Capital work-in-progress.

	 Subsequent to initial recognition, 
property, plant and equipment are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and accumulated impairmentlosses, if 
any. Subsequent expenditures relating 
to property, plant and equipment is 
capitalized only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with 
these will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.

	 Subsequent costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognized 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognized. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 
during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.

	 Spare parts and servicing equipment 
are normally treated as inventory and 
expensed asconsumed. However, major 
spare parts and stand-by equipment are 
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treated as property, plant and equipment 
when they are expected to be used 
during more than one year. Also, where 
the sparesparts or servicing equipment 
can only be used in connection with an 
item of property, plant and equipment 
they are accounted for as property, plant 
and equipment.

	 Depreciation on property, plant and 
equipment is computed using the straight-
line method over the estimated useful 
lives. Freehold land is not depreciated 
as it has an unlimited useful life whereas 
leasehold land is depreciated on a 
straight line method over the primary term 
of the lease.

	 The Company has based on evaluation 
performed by the technical Department 
established the estimated range of 
useful lives of assets for depreciating its 
property, plant and equipment as follows:

Buildings 30 years
Generation Civil works 30 years
Transmission assets 30 years
Distribution assets 30 years
Computer equipment 5 years
Vehicles 6.67 years
Furniture and Fixtures 10 years
Office equipment 5 years

	 Significant parts of property, plant 
and equipment which are required 
to be replaced at intervals and have 
specific useful lives are recognized and 
depreciated separately. 

	 The useful life, residual value and 
depreciation method are reviewed, and 
adjusted appropriately, at least at each 
Statement of Financial Position date 
to ensure that the method and period 
of depreciation are consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits. 
Change in the estimated useful life, 
residual value and / or depreciation 
method, if any, is depreciated 

prospectively over the asset’s remaining 
revised useful life. 

	 The cost and the accumulated 
depreciation for property, plant and 
equipment sold, scrapped, retired,   
disposed ofor when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the 
continued use,  are derecognized from 
the financial statements. The gains and 
losses are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

3.5	 Intangible assets
	 Intangible assetsinclude identifiable 

capitalized software costs and are 
recognized at cost of acquisition/
implementation less accumulated 
amortisation and any other provision for 
impairment losses. Subsequent costs 
are included only when it is probable 
that the item associated with the cost will 
generate future economic benefits and 
the cost can be reliably measured.

	 Internally generated intangible assets are 
recognized only when the asset created 
can be identified and it is probable that 
the asset created will generate future 
economic benefits and the costs can 
be measured reliably. Otherwise, the 
expenditure is charged to profit and loss 
for the year of incurring the expenditure.  

	 Amortisation is calculated and recognized 
using the straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful life as estimated by the 
management.

	
	 The useful lives and the amortization 

methods are reviewed annually and are 
adjusted as appropriate at the end of 
each reporting year, with any changes 
recognized as a change in the accounting 
estimate.

	 An intangible asset is derecognized 
when disposed of or when no future 
benefits are expected to arise from the 
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continued use of the asset.  The gains 
and losses are determined by comparing 
the proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognized in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

3.6	 Impairment of assets
	 The Company assesses at each 

Statement of Financial Position date 
whether there is any indication that 
property, plant and equipment may be 
impaired based on internal or external 
factors. If any such indication exists, the 
Company estimates the recoverable 
amount of the assets. If the carrying 
amount of asset/cash generating unit 
exceeds the recoverable amount on the 
reporting date, the carrying amount is 
reduced to the recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is measured as the 
higher of the net selling price and the 
value in use determined by the present 
value of estimated future cash flows. The 
impairment losses are recognized in  the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
if material, are disclosed separately.

3.7	 Income tax
	 Current tax assets and liabilities for 

the current period are measured at the 
amount expected to be recoverable  from 
or payable  to the Income tax authority 
based on the current period’s taxable 
income. The tax rates and tax laws used 
to compute the amount are those that 
are enacted or substantively enacted 
on the reporting date by the Income Tax 
Authority.

	 Deferred income tax is provided on all 
temporary differences at the reporting 
date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for 
financial reporting purposes. 

	 Deferred income tax liabilities are 
recognized for all taxable temporary 
differences except when the deferred 
income tax liability arises from the 
initial recognition of an asset or liability 
in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and that, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting 
profit nor taxable profit or loss.

	 Deferred income tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary 
differences to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary 
differences can be utilized, except when 
the deferred income tax asset relating 
to the deductible temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of an 
asset or liability in a transaction that is 
not a business combination and, at the 
time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

	 The carrying amount of deferred income 
tax assets is reviewed at each Balance 
Sheet date and reduced to the extent 
that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profits will be available to allow all 
or part of the asset to be recovered.

	 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities 
are measured at the tax rates that are 
expected to apply to the year when the 
asset is realized or the liability is settled, 
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that 
have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date.

	 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable 
right to set off current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and the Company 
intends to settle its current tax assets 
and liabilities on net basis.Management 
evaluates positions taken in income 
tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable income tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. 

	 The income tax liabilities are recognized 
when, despite the Company’s belief 
that its income tax return positions are 
supportable, the Company believes, it 
is more likely than not, based on the 
technical merits, that certain positions 
may not be fully sustained upon review by 
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income tax authorities. Benefits from tax 
positions are measured at the single best 
estimate of the most likely outcome. 

	 At each Statement of Financial Position 
date, the tax positions are reviewed, 
and to the extent that new information 
becomes available which causes the 
Company to change its judgment 
regarding the adequacy of existing 
income tax liabilities, such changes to 
income tax liabilities are duly recognized 
in income tax expense in the year in 
which such determination is made. 

	 Interest and penalties, if any, related 
to accrued liabilities for potential tax 
assessments are included in income 
tax charge for the year in which the 
assessment is completed.

3.8	 Investments
	 Investments primarily meant to be held 

over long term period (i.e. for more than 
12 months from date of acquisition) are 
valued at cost. Provision is made when 
in the opinion of the management there 
is a decline, other than temporary, in 
the carrying value of such investments. 
Current investments are stated at the 
lower of cost or quoted/fair value.

3.9	 Construction Contracts 
	 Construction contract is a contract 

specifically negotiated for the construction 
of an asset or of a group of assets, which 
are interrelated or interdependent in 
terms of design, technology, function, 
purpose or use. According to its 
characteristics, a construction contract 
can either be accounted for separately 
i.e. segmented into several components 
which are each accounted separately 
or combined with another construction 
contract in progress to form a single 
construction contract for accounting 
purposes. 

	 The Company executes cost plus 
markup/fee construction contracts.  

The ‘recoverable costs incurred on 
the contract plus an addition of the 
fixed markup / fee agreed with the 
customer under the contractual terms’ 
as at the date of Statement of Financial 
Position is treated as Work in Progress - 
‘Construction Contracts’.

	 Progress billing and advances are 
deducted from the value of the Work 
in Progress - ‘Construction Contracts’’ 
for the specific contract and recorded 
as ‘Amounts Due from Customers for 
Contract Work’ and in case progress 
billing and advances exceed this value, 
the same are recorded under liabilities as 
‘Amounts Due to Customers for Contract 
Work’. 

	 For the revenue recognition policy on 
construction contracts, refer note 3.21.

	 Amounts expected to be recovered 
or settled within 12 months from the 
reporting date are classified as current 
assets/liabilities. If not, they are presented 
under non-current assets/liabilities.

3.10	Trade and other receivables
	 Trade receivables are amounts due 

from customers in the ordinary course of 
business of transmission and supply of 
electricity. Trade receivables also include 
progress billing under construction 
contracts. Trade receivables are initially 
recognized at the sale/recoverable 
value and are assessed at each 
Statement of Financial Position date for 
collectability.The Company estimates the 
portion of its trade receivables that are 
uncollectable based on ageing, conduct 
of the customer and business/historical 
experience and provision for doubtful 
trade receivables is accordingly provided 
for.Trade receivables are classified as 
current assets, ifcollection is expected 
withintwelve monthsas at Statement of 
Financial Position date, if not, they are 
classified under non-current assets.
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3.11	 Loans and advances
	 Loans and advances represent 

advances given to suppliers and 
contractors in the ordinary course of 
the business activities of the Company. 
Advances also include inter corporate 
deposits placed by the Company for 
earning interest income.Loan and 
advances are initially recognized at 
the value of cash advanced and are 
assessed at each Statement of Financial 
Position date for recoverability and the 
provision is recognized when it is more 
likely  that the Company will not be able 
to collect the same. Loans and advances 
are classified under current assets if 
payment is recoverable within one year 
or lessas at  Statement of Financial 
Position date, if not, they are classified  
under non-current assets.

3.12	 Cash and cash equivalents
	 Cash and cash equivalents include cash 

in hand, bank balances and deposits, 
other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months 
or less and that are readily convertible 
to known amount of cash and cash 
equivalent and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

3.13	 Inventories
	 Inventory consists of stores and spares 

held for operation and maintenance and 
use in construction of an asset. 

	 Inventories are stated at the lower of 
cost and net realizable value. Cost is 
determined using the weighted average 
cost formula and comprises cost of 
purchases and other incidental expenses 
incurred in acquiring inventories and 
bringing them to their existing location 
and condition. 

3.14	 Investment and Asset Replacement 
Reserves

	 The nature and purpose of these 
reserves are as follows:

i)	 Investment Reserve: 
	 The reserve created during the earlier 

year/s under the ‘Group Investment 
Reserve (GIR) Scheme’ as per the DHI 
Ownership Policy to retain earnings in 
the DHI owned Companies (DoCs) to 
finance Projects of strategic importance. 
The stated objectives of Investment 
Reserve are as under:

	 To build funds for investments.
	 To build funds to meet National 

exigencies.
	 To optimize on the limited pool of 

capital available in the group and 
maximize returns to the Government 
and the State.

	 To facilitate transfer of capital among 
the Companies in the group and 
within the legal framework in Bhutan.

	 To enable the DoCs to optimize 
its capital structure and improve 
returns.

	 To provide predictability in flow of 
funds from DoCs to DHI and to MoF.

ii)	 Asset Replacement Reserve:
	 Reserve created to mitigate the risk 

of assets of the Company against any 
damages due to natural calamities.

3.15	 Borrowings
	 Borrowings are stated at principal 

outstanding and interest accrued and 
due on such borrowings based on the 
applicable interest rate. Borrowings are 
classified as current liabilities unless 
the Companyhas an unconditional right 
to defer settlement of the liability for at 
least 12 months after the Statement of 
Financial Position date.

3.16	 Grants
	 Grants from Government and Non-

Governmentsources are recognized 
where there is reasonable assurance 
that the grant will be received and all 
attached conditions will be complied 
with. 
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	 Grants relating to expense items 
are recognized as income on a 
systematic basis over the periods that 
the related costs, which it is intended 
to compensate, are expensed. The 
unallocated portion of such grant is 
presented as part of Deferred Grants in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

	 Grants related to non-current assets 
aretreated as Deferred Income in the 
Statement of Financial Position and 
are recognized to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income on a systematic 
basis over the useful life of the related 
assets.

	 Grant received as compensation for 
expenses/losses already incurred or with 
no future related costs is recognized 
as income in the year it is received or 
becomes receivable.

	 BAS 20-Accounting for Government 
Grant and disclosure of Government 
Assistance has been implemented by the 
Company retrospectively for the grants 
existed as on the transition date except 
itsPara 10Aregarding recognition of the 
benefit of government loan at below 
market rate of interest as a government 
grant, as the same is applicable from 
January 1, 2018 and the Company has 
not decided for the early implementation 
of the same. 

3.17	 Customer’s Contribution for network 
construction / expansion

	 Contribution received from customers 
towards the construction / extension 
of distribution network / assets at the 
customer’s site is treated as Deferred 
Customer’s Contribution in the Statement 
of Financial Position and is recognized to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
on a systematic basis over the useful 
life of the related distribution network 
/ assets and the distribution network / 
assets are capitalised under Property, 
plant and equipment.

3.18	 Borrowing Costs
	 Borrowing costs consist of interest and 

other costs that Company incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. 

	 General and specific borrowing costs 
(net of investment income on temporary 
investment of those borrowings) that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of a qualifying 
asset are capitalized as part of the 
costs of the asset, until such time the 
assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale.A qualifying asset 
is an asset that necessarily takes a 
substantial period of time to get ready 
for its intended use or sale, which is 
two years or more as decided by the 
Company keeping in view the nature of 
assets and past trend of time taken for 
their completion.

	 All other borrowing costs are charged as 
expense to Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period they occur.

3.19	 Trade and other payables
	 Trade and other payables are obligations 

incurred by the Company towards 
purchase of electricity and other goods 
and availing the services that have 
been acquired or availed in the ordinary 
course of business. Trade and other 
payables are classified under current 
liabilities, if payment is due within 12 
months as at Statement of Financial 
Position date, if not, they are classified  
under non-current liabilities.

3.20	 Employee benefit liabilities 
	 Contribution to Provident Fund 

administered by National Pension and 
Provident Fund is charged to Statement 
of Comprehensive Income as and when 
they fall due. 

	 Retirement benefit liabilities are 
recognized when the Company has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) 
as a result of past event, it is probable 
that an outflow of resources embodying 
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economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation.

	 Gratuity and Leave encashment are 
provided for based on actuarial valuation 
as at the Statement of Financial Position 
date. Retirement benefit liabilities are 
discounted to present value applying the 
pre-tax rate of return on Government 
bonds of similar tenure and currency. 
Increase in the liability due to passage of 
time is recognized as interest expense. 
Actuarial gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes 
in actuarial assumptions are charged or 
credited to equity in other comprehensive 
income in the period in which they arise.

	 Further, the contribution towards the 
gratuity liability is invested in fixed 
deposits with the banks.

	 The expected cost of Performance 
Based Incentive and Variable Allowances 
is recognized as an expense when there 
is a legal or constructive obligation to 
make such payments as a result of past 
performance and a reliable estimate of 
the obligation can be made.

	 The employees of the Company are 
covered under an insurance policy 
with death claim benefit in the event of 
death of the employee while in service 
and within the policy term. The policy 
has been underwritten through Single 
premium which will be refunded at 
the end of policy period/term with pre-
decided/fixed policy bonus / benefit and 
after deduction of death claim paid within 
the policy term. The Single premium paid 
has been considered as ‘Deposit against 
Employees Insurance Policy’ and the 
death claims paid/payable are accounted 
for as expense and are reduced from 
the same during the year of incurrence 
/ intimation of death claim and the 
policy bonus / benefit is accounted for 
as income and added to the same on 

prorate basis over the Policy period/ term 
by credit to ‘Other Income’.

3.21	 Revenue Recognition
	 Revenue is recognized to the extent 

that it is probable that the associated 
economic benefits will flow to the 
Company and the revenue can be 
measured reliably. Revenue is measured 
at the fair value of the consideration 
received or receivable.

	 The following specific recognition criteria 
must also be met before revenue is 
recognized:

a)	 Electricity Business:
	 Revenue attributable to sale of electricity 

is accounted for as per the tariff rates 
approved by the Bhutan Electricity 
Authority on the basis of billing to 
consumers under the billing cycle 
followed by the Company. Revenue is 
recognized as electricity is delivered and 
consumed by customers. Accordingly, 
Revenue also includes an estimate 
of unbilled revenue. Unbilled revenue 
represents an estimate of electricity 
consumed by customers since the date 
of each customer’s last billed meter 
reading that has not been billed at the 
reporting date.

	 Wheeling charges (transmission 
charges)are accounted on the basis of 
periodic billing to the power generating 
companies at the tariff rates approved by 
Bhutan Electricity Authority.

b)	 Construction Business:
	 The Company executes cost plus 

construction contracts for construction 
of electrical infrastructure, In the case 
of a cost plus contract, the outcome 
can be estimated reliably when it is 
probable that the economic benefits 
associated with the contract will flow 
to the Company and the contract costs 
attributable to the contract, whether or 
not specifically reimbursable, can be 
clearly identified and measured reliably. 
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Accordingly revenue from a cost plus 
contract is recognized by reference to 
the recoverable costs incurred during 
the year plus the fixed mark upunder the 
contractual terms.

c)	 Interest income:	
	 Interest income is accrued on a time 

proportion basis, by reference to the 
principal outstanding and at the effective 
interest rate applicable.

d)	 Liquidated damages and penalties:
	 Liquidated damages and penalties occur 

when contractors/suppliersfail to meet 
the key performance indicators set out in 
their contract with the Company. Income 
resulting from claims for liquidated 
damages and penalties are recognized 
as other income when all performance 
obligations are met (including when a 
contractual entitlement exists), it can be 
reliably measured and it is probable that 
the economic benefits will flow to the 
Company.

e)	 Other items of revenue:
	 Other items of revenue which arise 

from the provision of services incidental 
to the core activities of the business 
are recognized when the services are 
provided and it is probable that economic 
benefits associated with the transaction 
will flow to the Company and amount can 
be measured reliably. 

3.22	 Earnings per share (‘EPS’)
	 The Company presents the basic and 

diluted EPS data for its ordinary shares. 
Basic EPS is computed by dividing the 
net profit for the year attributable to the 
ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during the 
year. 

	 Diluted EPS is computed by adjusting 
the net profit for the year attributable 
to the ordinary shareholders and 
by adjusting the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding 

to assume conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. 

3.23	 Dividends
	 Dividends(including interim dividends) to 

ordinary shareholders is recognized as a 
liability and deducted from shareholders’ 
equity in the period in which the 
dividends are recommended by the 
Board of Directors and approved by 
the ordinary shareholders in the Annual 
General Meeting.

3.24	 Provisions and contingent liabilities
	 The Company creates a provision when 

there is a present obligation arising 
as result of past event that probably 
requires an outflow of resources and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of obligation. Provisions are 
measured at the best estimate of the 
expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, at the balances sheet date 
and are not discounted to its present 
value.  

	 A disclosure for a contingent liability is 
made when there is a present obligation 
arising as a result of past event that 
probably will not require an outflow of 
resources or where a reliable estimate of 
the obligation cannot be made.

4.	 Critical accounting estimates and 
assumptions

	
	 The preparation of the financial 

statements requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts in the financial statements. 
Although the Company regularly 
assesses these estimates, actual 
results could differ materially from 
these estimates. Changes in estimates 
are recorded in the year in which they 
become known. 

	 Actual results may differ from 
management’s estimates if these results 
differ from historical experience or 
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other assumptions do not turn out to 
be substantially accurate, even if such 
assumptions were reasonable when 
made. 

	 The said estimates are based on the 
facts and events, that existed as at the 
date of statement of financial position, or 
that occurred after that date but provide 
additional evidence about conditions 
existing as at the statement of financial 
position date.

	 The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying 
values of assets and liabilities within the 
next financial year are discussed below.

a)	 Useful lives of electricity generation, 
transmission and distribution assets

	 The costs of electricity generation, 
transmission and distribution assets 
are depreciated on a straight-line 
basis over their respective useful lives. 
Management estimates the useful 
lives of these assets to be within 30 
years. Changes in the expected level 
of usage,technological developments, 
level of wear and tear could impact the 
economic useful lives and the residual 
values of these assets, therefore future 
depreciation charges could be revised 
and could have an impact on the profit in 
future years.

b)	 Retirement benefit obligations
	 The costs of retirement benefits and 

present value of the retirement benefit 
obligations are determined using 

actuarial valuations. An actuarial 
valuation involves making various 
assumptions which may differ from 
actual developments in the future. These 
include the determination of the discount 
rate, future salary increases, mortality 
rates and future pension increases. Due 
to the complexity of the valuation and 
its long-term nature, retirement benefit 
obligations are sensitive to changes in 
these assumptions. All assumptions are 
reviewed at each reporting date.

c)	 Provision for doubtful debts
	 As at each Statement of Financial 

Position date, the Company assesses 
recoverability of trade receivables. 
Provision for doubtful debts is 
recognized based on the historical 
experience of collectability of debts. The 
Company estimates the portion of its 
outstanding receivables that cannot be 
collected based on aging schedules at 
an increasing percentage of each aging 
category. Actual doubtful debts could 
differ from these estimates.

d)	 Unbilled revenue
	 The unbilled revenue is calculated 

using average of last three months 
consumption for the Low voltage 
consumer and the actual consumption 
for the Medium and High Voltage 
consumer. This is consistent with the 
revenue recognition methodology 
adopted in prior years and reflects the 
billing profile of the customers. Actual 
electricity usage could differ from those 
estimates.
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5.1	 Capital work-in-progress as at December 31, 2016 andDecember 31, 2015comprise the 
following:

Particulars
As at

December 31, 2016 December 31, 2015
Generation equipment         6,333,792 2,643,636
Transmission lines   1,635,876,349 123,821,678
Distribution Assets      735,561,670 1,273,590,931
Buildings        92,001,311 74,122,650
Other Civil Structures        16,012,857 20,570,634
Others            539,679 117,456,635
Advance for capital works      328,599,041 206,849,871
Total   2,814,924,698 1,819,056,036

5.2	 Borrowing costs amounting to Nu. 1,526,555 and Nu. 611,996 has been capitalized by the 
Company for the year ended December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 respectively on 
qualifying assets at a nominal interest rate as defined in the respective Loan agreement.

5.3	 Gross carrying value includes Fixed Assets transferred from erstwhile Department of Power, 
Royal Government of Bhutan at a written down value of Nu 1,760.89 million against issue of 
Share Capital to DHI.

5.4	 Certain Property, plant and equipment are pledged as securities against borrowings. (Refer 
Note 18.1)

6.	 Intangible assets

Computer Software
As at As at

 December 31, 
2016

 December 31, 
2015

Opening gross carrying value (i) 215,839,129          214,883,344 
Additions 3,887,185             1,254,918 
Disposals (2,549,729)              (299,133)
Closing gross carrying value(ii) 217,176,585          215,839,129 
Opening accumulated amortization (iii) (159,279,627)        (118,774,971)
Additions (38,175,816)          (40,803,641)
Depreciation on disposals 2,549,727                298,985 

Closing accumulated amortization (iv) (194,905,716)        (159,279,627)
Net carrying value (ii-iv) 22,270,869            56,559,502 
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7.     Investments

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Long Term - Other Investments - Unquoted:
4,000,000 Equity Shares of Nu. 100/- each ofDungsam 
Cement Corporation Limited, fully paid up 400,000,000 -

Total 400,000,000 -

8. 	 Trade & other receivables

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Security Deposit for Land Lease 199,330 199,330
Total 199,330 199,330 

9.	 Long-term loans & advances

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Advance to Holding Company -          400,000,000 
Advance to others 80,150             5,226,200 
Prepaid Expenses 18,077,704             8,024,718 
Advances to employees
  -  Bike Loan 2,536,974             5,856,734 
  -  Welfare Loan 140,334                176,777 
  -  Advance-M/Phone Loan 397,107                784,848 
Total 21,232,269          420,069,277 

10.   Other non-current assets

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Deposit against Employee Insurance Policies 572,751,069 491,063,498
(Refer Note 37 (v))
Fixed deposits with Banks(having original tenure of more 
than twelve months)for Gratuity liability (Refer Note 37 
(i))

287,175,365 343,000,945

Interest accrued on Fixed Deposits for Gratuity Liability 29,472,182 13,898,910
Total 889,398,616 847,963,353
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11.   Inventories

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Stores and spare parts 286,964,752 379,834,091 
Stock- ISU 50,182,973 45,452,379 
Stock - Uniform 768,671 645,953 
Stock-Infocom Spares 1,052,370 1,052,370 
Less: Provision for obsolete inventory (248,170) (1,635,630)
Total 338,720,596           425,349,163 

12.   Amounts due from/to customers for contract work

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Amounts due from customers for contract work
Work in progress -Construction Contracts 8,667,188,638 10,900,618,715

Less: Progress billing and advances received 5,937,058,763 10,414,808,666
Total 2,730,129,875 485,810,049

Amounts due to customers for contract work
Work in progress -Construction Contracts 9,172,134,152 1,510,314,422

Less: Progress billing and advances received 11,648,404,093 2,440,594,172
Total (2,476,269,941) (930,279,750)

Recognized and included in financial statements as:
Amounts due from customers for construction contracts
- Current portion 2,730,129,875 485,810,049 
-  Non-current portion - -

Amounts due to customers for construction contracts
  - For short term contract 72,649,186 97,362,301
  - For long term contract 2,403,620,755 832,917,449
Total (2,476,269,941) (930,279,750)

13.   Trade & other receivables

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Receivables against transmission and supply of electric-
ity 160,402,597 123,284,570

Less: Provision for doubtful debts (6,851,839) (17,789,049)
Total 153,550,758           105,495,521 
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13.1	 Provision for doubtful debts on outstanding receivables from customers are provided for on 
the basis of ageing analysis for each of the customers as on the reporting date with increasing 
percentages on each ageing category. The table below gives the information on the movement 
of the provision during the year.

Particulars As at  
January 1, 2016

Amount written back and 
credited to Statement of 
Comprehensive Income

As at  
December 31, 

2016
Provision for doubtful Debts 17,789,049  10,937,210 6,851,839 

14.   Cash and cash equivalents

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Cash in hand 2,454,777 2,859,720
Bank balances in current accounts 1,267,286,771 3,021,309,990
Balance with bank towards Staff Welfare Fund 14,034,990 11,756,868
Total 1,283,776,538 3,035,926,578

14.1	 There are no restricted cash and cash equivalents.

15.    Short-term loans and advances

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Advances to suppliers 13,883,730 10,715,918
BST Receivable - 313,000
Advances to employees
   - Travel and salary advance 42,400 108,159
   - Expenses 1,432,102 1,012,787
   - Bike Loan 3,447,370 3,640,272
- Welfare Loan 468,295 573,114
-Advance-M/phone loan 903,780 613,104
Prepaid expenses 9,695,174 11,951,791
Other advances (Refer Note 15.1) 12,185,155 9,138,072
Total 42,058,006 38,066,217

15.1	 Includes BST advance paid to contractors & other miscellaneous advances.
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16.	 Other current assets

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Interest accrued on Fixed Deposits:
 - for Others 23,882,205 5,112,410 
    - for Investment Reserve 2,983,607 7,364,384 
    - for Gratuity Liability 10,878,486 -
Fixed deposits with Banks (having original tenure of 
more than three months):
  - for Others
  -  for Investment Reserve
  -  for Gratuity liability (Refer Note 37 (i))

857,000,718
600,000,000
104,711,160

333,324,042
600,000,000

-
Accrued Unbilled Trade Receivables 399,728,479 385,233,752
Other receivables 1,460,896 1,165,029
Total 2,000,645,551 1,332,199,617

17. Share Capital

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Authorized:
15,000,000 Equity Shares of Nu. 1,000/- each 15,000,000,000 15,000,000,000 
Total     15,000,000,000      15,000,000,000 

Issued, Subscribed and fully Paid up:
8,225,118 Equity Shares of Nu. 1,000/- each 8,225,118,000 8,225,118,000
Total 8,225,118,000 8,225,118,000

17.1	 All Equity shares are Ordinary shares and are ranked equally. Fully paid shares carry one 
vote per share and carry the right to dividends. There are no restrictions on the transfer of 
shares in the Company or on voting rights between holders of shares. Entire share capital 
is held by the holding Company M/s Druk Holding & Investments (A Royal Government of 
Bhutan Undertaking)	

	
17.2	 4,910,755 equity shares (Previous year:4,910,755) have been allotted for consideration 

other than cash and 3,314,363 equity shares (Previous year: 3,314,363) have been allotted 
pursuant to conversion of grant of Royal Government of Bhutan.
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17.3 	 Reconciliation of Equity shares Outstanding

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

At the beginning of the year
  - Number of shares 8,225,118 8,190,191
  - Amount (in Nu.) 8,225,118,000 8,190,191,000
Add: Issued during the year
  - Number of shares                             -   34,927
  - Amount (in Nu.)                             -   34,927,000
At the end of the year 
  - Number of shares 8,225,118 8,225,118
  - Amount (in Nu.) 8,225,118,000 8,225,118,000

18.	 Borrowings

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

i) Secured borrowings:
Term loan from ‘National Pension and Provident Fund’ 
(Refer Note 18.1)
- for Transmission Lines Project

335,420,000          377,347,500

ii) Unsecured borrowings:
Term loans from ‘Royal Government of Bhutan’ 
(Refer Note 18.2)
- for Rural Electrification Projects
- for Tala Hydroelectric Project

5,622,375,952
219,943,476 5,442,612,781            

329,915,214

6,177,739,428       6,149,875,495 

Borrowings analyzed as follows  
As at December 

31, 2016
As at December 

31, 2015

Current portion 282,084,353         196,757,453 
Non-current portion 5,895,655,075      5,953,118,042 
Total 6,177,739,428       6,149,875,495 
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Nature of Security:

18.1	 Term loan of Nu. 335,420,000 from 
National pension and provident fund 
has been obtained for setting up of 
the project “220 kV Double Circuit 
Transmission Lines from Dagapela-
Tsirang- Gelephu to Lodrai and is 
secured by first mortgage charge on 
project assets and carry fixed rate 
of interest of 9% per annum and is 
repayable within 12 years in 24 half 
yearly equal installments with last 
installment due on September 01, 2024.

18.2	 Other Term Loans:
i)	 Rural electrification Loan I (RE-I) of 

Nu. 157,777,298 has been obtained 
from the Royal Government of 
Bhutan for Rural Electrification 
Works and is repayable within 30 
years at an interest rate of 6% in 60 
semi-annually equal installments 
with last installment due on August 
15, 2035.				  

	
ii)	 Rural electrification Loan II 

(RE-II) of Nu. 274,887,566 has 
been obtained from the Royal 
Government of Bhutan for Rural 
Electrification Works and is 
repayable within 24 years at an 
interest rate of 6% in 48 semi-
annually equal installments with last 
installment due on August 15, 2031.	
			 

iii)	 Rural electrification Loan III 
(RE-III) of Nu 346,337,865 has 
been obtained from the Royal 
Government of Bhutan for Rural 
Electrification Works and is 
repayable within 24 years at an 
interest rate of 6% in 48 semi-
annually equal installments with last 
installment due on March 15, 2036.

iv)	 Rural electrification Loan IV (RE-
IV) of Nu 1,127,823,671 has 
been obtained from the Royal 

Government of Bhutan for Rural 
Electrification Works and is 
repayable within 24 years at an 
interest rate of 0% in 48 semi-
annually equal installments with last 
installment due on March 15, 2041.	
				  

v)	 Rural electrification Loan JICA- 
Phase 1 of Nu 1,884,285,586 
has been obtained from Royal 
Government of Bhutan for Rural 
Electrification Works and is 
repayable within 30 years at an 
interest rate of 0.01% on Japanese 
Yen in 61 semi-annually equal 
installments with last installment 
due on May 20, 2047.

vi)	 Rural electrification Loan ADA of 
Nu 279,334,253 has been obtained 
from Royal Government of Bhutan 
for Rural Electrification Works and 
is repayable within 12 years at an 
interest rate of 0.7% on EURO in 
12 semi-annually equal installments 
with last installment due on 
December 31, 2029.

vii)	 Loan for Tala Transmission Lines of 
Nu. 219,943,476 has been obtained 
from the Royal Government of 
Bhutan and is repayable within 12 
years at an interest rate of 9% in 
semi-annually equal installments 
with last installment due on 
December 15, 2018.			 
	

viii)	 Rural electrification loan – RE V and 
JICA Loan II of Nu. 1,551,929,714 
has been obtained from the Royal 
Government of Bhutan is still 
effective and not closed. The rate 
of interest and the loan tenure 
shall be determined by the Royal 
Government of Bhutan.

				  
18.3	 Refer Note 37(vii) for transaction wise 

detail under each borrowing.			 
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19.	 Deferred grants

Grants are received from the Royal Government of Bhutan as counterpart financing to the Rural 
Electrification Loan to carry out the rural electrification works for the civil component and establishment 
expenses. The material costs are financed through the loan. There are no unfilled conditions and 
contingencies attached to this grant.

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

As at January 1 923,574,865 939,325,033 
Received during the year 273,249,520 8,209,287
Less: Transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (29,757,220) (23,959,455)

As at December 31 1,167,067,165           923,574,865 

Deferred grant analyzed as follows:
 As at December 

31, 2016
 As at December 

31, 2015
Current portion 33,107,110 24,891,343
Non-current portion 1,133,960,055 898,683,522
Total 1,167,067,165 923,574,865

20.	 Deferred Customer’s Contribution

 As at December 
31, 2016

 As at December 
31, 2015

As at January 1 3,204,880               3,317,332 
Less : Transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (112,452) (112,452)

As at December 31 3,092,428               3,204,880 

Deferred Customer’s Contribution analyzed as fol-
lows:
Current portion 112,452 112,452 
Non-current portion 2,979,976 3,092,428 
Total 3,092,428               3,204,880 
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21. Employee Benefit Liabilities

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Provision for: 
- Gratuity (Refer Note 37(i)) 451,100,565 405,785,435 
  - Leave encashment 41,376,857 36,006,408 
  - Performance Based Incentive Scheme 75,930,133 75,645,862 
  - Performance Based Variable Allowance 68,248,469 67,902,361 
Total 636,656,024           585,340,066 

Employee benefit liabilities analyzed as follows:

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Current portion 209,905,567 202,815,969 
Non-current portion 426,750,457 382,524,097 
Total 636,656,024           585,340,066 

22.	 Deferred Income Tax liabilities (net)

The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities and the gross 
movement on the deferred income tax liability (net) is as under:

For the year ended 

Particulars December 31, 
2016

December 31, 
2015

Opening Balance 551,463,686 480,369,787
Charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 84,830,666 71,093,899
Closing Balance 636,294,353 551,463,686

Note 22.1:The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year ended 
December 31, 2016and December 31,2015 are as under:

Deferred income tax liabilities As at  
January 1, 2016

Adjustment to 
Statement of 

Comprehensive 
Income

As at  
December 31, 

2016

Property, plant and equipment 577,249,321 85,051,514 662,300,834
Total 577,249,321 85,051,514 662,300,834
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Deferred income tax assets As at  
January 1, 2016

Adjustment to 
Comprehensive 

Income

As at  
December 31, 

2016
Provision for doubtful debts 5,336,715 (3,281,163) 2,055,552
Training 19,958,231 3,918,248 23,876,479
Provision for obsolete inventories 490,689 (416,238) 74,451
Total 25,785,634 220,848 26,006,482

23.	 Other non-current liabilities
As at December 

31, 2016
As at December 

31, 2015
Security Deposits 
   - Energy meter 208,248,827 194,447,557
- Others (Refer Note 23.1) 16,759,951 16,759,951
Performance security 42,171 85,185
Retention money 981,572,232 469,897,953
Payables to employees 149,124 149,124

1,206,772,305 681,339,770

23.1	 Include the deposit received from Punatshangchhu-I Hydroelectric Project Authority as 
compensation for BPCL assets at Wangdue Phodrang which will be adjustable after the assets 
being transferred to the PHPA-I on completion of the project.  

24.	 Trade & other payables

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Trade payables:
 - electricity 28,930,898 223,675,778
 - suppliers & contractors 189,954,115 178,597,763
 - services 3,266,862 8,356,719
Other payables - 1,044,044
Total 222,151,875 411,674,304



Annual Report | 2016 75     

25. Income tax payable (net of advances)

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Provision for corporate tax 577,719,294 519,783,722
Less: Advance income tax and tax deducted at source (206,820,153) (183,171,877)
Total 370,899,141 336,611,845

25.1 Details of Income Tax is as under:

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Current income tax    
Current tax on profits for the year 577,719,294 519,783,722
Total Current income tax 577,719,294 519,783,722

Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 84,830,666 71,093,899
Total Deferred income tax 84,830,666 71,093,899
Income tax expense 662,549,960 590,877,621

25.2 	Reconciliation between the provisions for income tax to the amount computed by applying the 
statutory income tax rate to the income before provision for income tax is summarized below:

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Profit before tax 2,210,528,623 1,971,618,598
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates 663,158,587 591,485,579
Income tax effect due to:
-Medical expenses -   211,265
-Donations 213,000 549,600
-Fines and Penalties 282,615 1,073,445
- Depreciation on disposal 27,368,018 12,308,393
- Reversal on disposal of asset (28,472,261) (14,750,661)
Income tax charge 662,549,960 590,877,621

25.3 	The applicable corporate income tax rate was same, i.e. 30% for the current year and earlier 
year ended on December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015.
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26.	 Other current liabilities

As at December 
31, 2016

As at December 
31, 2015

Security deposits:
- Energy meter 8,311,329 2,719,018
- Capacity reserve charges 8,525,727 9,607,950
- Performance security 6,035,000 4,880,832
Retention money 1,034,934,197 820,119,816
Interest accrued but not due on borrowings 29,744,150 32,071,672
Statutory liabilities 4,615,043 8,444,669
Welfare Grant Fund 13,994,990 11,716,868
Payables to employees 1,717,497 517,898
Accrued Expenses 21,056,197 1,791,400
Other liabilities 9,210,134 2,653,399
Total 1,138,144,264 894,523,521

27.	 Income from construction contracts

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31,

2015
Value of contracts performed and service charges     6,017,510,163   4,281,806,936 
Estimation charges for works              309,932              254,672 
Total     6,017,820,095   4,282,061,608 

28.	 Other Income

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Interest income on:
-  Fixed deposits 43,692,610 21,906,171
-Benefit Accrued on Employee Insurance Policies
(Refer Note 37 (v)) 47,226,700 45,430,224

-Fixed Deposit on Investment Reserve 37,619,223 25,979,651
- Fixed Deposits on Gratuity Liability 26,451,759 15,725,365
- RICBL bonds - 10,407,945
- Inter-Corporate Loan 524,590 9,143,835
Penalties and liquidated damages 17,875,767 8,583,015
Revenue Grant 64,750 -
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For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Amortization of deferred grants (Refer Note 19) 29,757,220 23,959,455
Amortization of deferred customer’s contribution 
(Refer Note 20) 112,452 112,452

Liabilities no longer required written back 3,047,961 22,588
Write-back of Provision on Obsolescence of Material 1,387,460 9,399,992
Write-back/off of Provision for doubtful debts 10,937,210 (9,807,021)
Scrap Sales 10,713,961 4,634,690
Tender form sales 919,600 2,214,300
Hire and lease charges 1,799,377 1,546,939
Other miscellaneous income 49,471,463 88,170,896
Total 281,602,102 257,430,496

29.	 Operation and maintenance expenses

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Repairs and maintenance:
- Material/Stores 127,351,510 76,477,552
- Services 140,622,673 105,027,304
- Meter Equipment 1,677,105 1,170,447
- Vehicle running expenses (POL) 27,803,926 24,286,630
- Consumables 15,148,274 10,862,999
- Others 94,863,147 93,973,844
Total 407,466,635 311,798,776

30.	 Employee benefit expenses

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Salaries, wages, bonus and allowances 737,312,914 676,875,343
Contribution to provident and pension fund 44,664,305 40,987,790
Contribution for gratuity and leave encashment 86,712,384 84,569,041
Workmen and staff welfare expenses 91,823,574 74,484,544
Total 960,513,177 876,916,718
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31.	 Finance cost

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Interest on long term borrowings from: 
Royal Government of Bhutan for:
   - Rural electrification Projects          51,493,492 53,199,462
   - Tala Hydro Electric Project          35,945,361 35,945,361
National Pension and Provident fund for:
   - Transmission Lines Project          31,756,607 35,599,384
Other finance charges              136,848 125,402
Total        119,332,308 124,869,609
Less: Amounts capitalized on qualifying assets           1,526,555 611,996
Total        117,805,753 124,257,613

32.	 Other expenses

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Travelling expenses 43,620,746 39,217,968
Rent charges 7,055,793 5,511,521
Rates and taxes 1,456,614 1,021,907
Printing and stationary 12,816,563 16,854,897
License and registration fees 15,922,786 11,888,813
Audit fees and expenses 855,301 940,985
Office expenses 8,769,571 8,281,034
Consultancy fees 250,000 200,000
Entertainment expenses 7,548,721 5,641,879
Publicity and Advertisement expenses 3,097,806 2,410,579
Insurance charges 2,848,263 2,697,309
CSR expenses 8,017,347 1,857,000
Vehicle Hire charges 1,324,487 474,395
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 43,426,266 25,264,468
Board meeting expenses and sitting fees 1,397,648 1,347,642
Management Fee for holding Company 17,419,105 14,298,844
Miscellaneous expenses 18,200,324 32,821,413
Total 194,027,340 170,730,654
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33.	 Earnings per share (‘EPS’)

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Basic EPS attributable to Ordinary shares
Net Profit attributable to the owners of the Company 1,547,978,664   1,380,740,977 

Issued and outstanding ordinary shares at the beginning 
of the year           8,225,118         8,190,191 

Effect of ordinary shares issued during the year                       -           10,187.04 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares           8,225,118         8,200,378 
Basic EPS attributable to ordinary Shares                188.20              168.38 
Average number of diluted shares           8,225,118         8,200,378 
Diluted EPS attributable to ordinary Shares                188.20              168.38 

34.	 Related party transactions

The Company is a wholly owned subsidiary of Druk Holding & Investments (a Royal Government 
of Bhutan undertaking). The Company has no subsidiary Company. The Company considers that 
for the purpose of BAS 24 the Royal Government of Bhutan is in a position of control over it, and 
therefore regards the Royal Government of Bhutan and its controlled companies/corporations as 
related parties for the purpose of the disclosures required by BAS 24.
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Key management personnel (‘KMP’)

KMPs are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of the Company directly or indirectly including any director whether executive or otherwise. 
Key management personnel of the company for the purpose of disclosure of compensation include 
the Managing Director as required by the Companies Act of the Kingdom of Bhutan, 2000.

Summary of compensation paid to the KMP, Dasho Bharat Tamang, the former Managing 
Director retired on June 30, 2015.

For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December  31, 

2015
Basic Salary and contract allowance 860,531
Performance based variable allowances 179,974 297,545
Performance based incentive scheme 94,298 169,400
Sitting fees - 89,000
Contribution to provident fund - 63,105
Total 274,272 1,479,581

Summary of compensation paid to the KMP, Mr. Gem Tshering, the present Managing Director 
w.e.f. July 01, 2015.

	 For the year ended
December 31, 

2016
December 31, 

2015
Basic Salary and contract allowance 1,559,040 768,000
Performance based variable allowances 164,761 120,000
Performance based incentive scheme 135,240 79,200
Sitting fees 115,000 88,000
Contribution to provident fund
Other allowances

107,184
97,400

52,800
68,641

Total 2,178,625 1,176,641

As the liabilities for gratuity and leave encashment are provided on actuarial basis for the Company 
as a whole, the amounts pertaining to KMP are not ascertainable separately and as such could not 
be included above.

Note:
I)	 Reimbursement of expenses incurred by related parties for and on behalf of the Company 

and vice-versa, and the related outstanding amounts have not been included in the above 
disclosures.

ii) 	 The disclosures given above have been reckoned on the basis of information available with the 
Company and relied upon by the Auditors.
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35.	 Capital Commitments

	 The Company has contractual 
commitments of Nu 5,461,181,557 and 
Nu 8,577,724,815 as at December 
31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 
respectively; on account of capital 
expenditures relating to acquisition 
of Property, plant and equipment, but 
not recognized as liabilities as on the 
reporting date. 

36.	 Contingencies Liabilities

	 The contingencies where the probability 
of future payments is assessed not 
remote as well as those contingencies 
assessed as remote are disclosed.

	 The Tax Authority has carried out the 
Tax assessment of the Company for 
the income tax assessment year 2014 
and 2015. In assessing the Tax for 
these periods, the Tax Authority has 
assessed that the Company is liable to 
pay additional tax of Nu 8,187,310 and 
Nu 23,499,496 for the assessment year 
2014 and 2015 respectively being the 
disallowance of tax deductible expenses 
of Brand Management Fee paid to the 
Holding Company and the Performance 
Based Variable Allowance paid to its 
employees. Based on the clarification 
sought by the Holding Company from 
the Tax Authority, the Tax Authority has 
agreed to review the issue and conveyed 
to keep the assessed tax liability on hold 
till the Authority arrives at a decision 
on the issue. Considering that these 
demands are at assessment level and 
the management is of the view that 
the same shall not be sustainable, no 
provision towards these demands is 
considered necessary.

37.	 Other Notes to Accounts

	 Gratuity:
i)	 The liability towards Gratuity is 

funded through fixed deposits 
with the banks. As on December 
31, 2016 there is balance of Nu. 
432,237,194 in the fixed deposits 
(including interest of Nu. 40,350,669 
accrued thereon) earmarked 
towards gratuity liability of Nu. 
451,100,565 as on December 
31, 2016, showing shortfall of Nu 
18,863,371 which shall be made 
good in the coming year/s by further 
investing in the fixed deposits. 
However, the liability has been 
fully provided in the accounts and 
during the year, a provision (net)of 
Nu 45,315,130 (Previous year: Nu. 
64,267,308) has been made in the 
accounts.

ii)	 As per the technical assessment 
of the slow and non-moving 
material identified based on ageing 
and usage level of the inventory 
generated from ERP (SAP) System 
and also based on identification/
segregation of obsolete stock at the 
time of physical verification,  the  
adequate provision has been made 
in the accounts towards obsolete 
material. 

iii)	 In the opinion of the management, 
the value of assets other than 
fixed assets and investments, on 
realization in the ordinary course of 
business, will not be less than the 
value at which these are stated in 
the Statement of Financial Position.

iv)	 The letters have been sent to most 
of the parties for confirmation of 
the balances under trade and other 
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receivables, loans and advances 
and trade and other payables, 
however, due to non-receipt of 
the response from few parties, the 
balances are subject to confirmation 
/ reconciliation in some cases. The 
impact, if any, subsequent to the 
confirmation/reconciliation will be 
taken in the year of confirmation/
reconciliation, which in the view of 
the management will not be material 
keeping in view the past experience.

v)	 The Company has taken single 
premium insurance policies with 
Royal Insurance Corporation of 
Bhutan Limited (RICB), for coverage 
of its employees with death claim 
benefit in the event of death while 
in service and within the respective 
policy term. The policies have 
been underwritten through Single 
premium, which will be refunded at 
the end of respective policy period/
term with pre-decided/fixed policy 
bonus/ benefit and after deduction 
of death claims paid within the 
respective policy term. The policy 
premiums paid and bonus/benefit 
accrued thereon aggregating to 
Nu. 572,751,069(after deducting 
death claims of Nu. 3,600,000 paid/
payable under the policies) as 
on the reporting date have been 
considered as ‘Deposit against 
Employees Insurance Policy’ under 

‘Other Non-Current Assets’ in the 
Statement of Financial Position. 
The death claim benefits of Nu. 
1,800,000 paid/payable during 
the year have been reduced from 
the same and accounted for as 
‘Employee Benefit Expense’ and 
the policies bonus / benefit of Nu. 
47,226,700 (Previous year Nu 
45,430,224) accrued under the 
policies during the year have been 
added in the same on prorated 
basis by credit to ‘Other Income’.

vi)	 The Company had during the 
year 2013 given an interest free 
advance of Nu. 400 million to its 
Holding Company, Druk Holding and 
Investments Limited (DHI). The said 
advance, which had been shown 
as ‘Advance to Holding Company’ 
in terms of the agreement entered 
with DHI, during the year has been 
adjusted as consideration of the 
transfer of 4,000,000 equity shares 
of the face value of Nu. 100/- each 
of Dungsam Cement Corporation 
Limited (DCCL) in the name of 
the Company by DHI. Further, 
during the year the Company has 
transferred certain lands to DHI at 
its cost / book value, by adjustment 
of the Retained Earnings in 
terms of the DHI Land Policy and 
Implementation Guidelines.
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The detail of Loans Funds for the year is as under:
                                                                                                              (Amount in Nu.)

Particulars
Loan out-

standing as 
on 01.01.2016

Disburse-
ment during 

the year

Foreign 
Exchange 
difference 

((gain)/loss)

Repayment /
Adjustment 
during the 

year

Loan Out-
standing as on 

31.12.2016

Interest Paid/
provided for 
during the 

year

From Royal Government of Bhutan (Unsecured)
A)     For Rural Electrification works
ADB-RE I 166,081,366                  -   -   8,304,068 157,777,298 9,649,327

ADB-RE II 293,213,404                    -   -   18,325,838 274,887,566 16,896,422

ADB-RE III 364,566,173                   -   -   18,228,309 346,337,865 21,275,474

ADB-RE IV 1,138,451,374                  -   (12,153,809) (1,526,107) 1,127,823,671 -

ADB-RE V 593,026,203 107,050,723 -   - 700,076,926 -

ADA 312,903,654                   -   (33,569,401) - 279,334,253 1,946,087

JICA-I 1,734,189,750    5,193,412 144,902,425 - 1,884,285,586 199,626

JICA-II 840,180,857  11,671,931 -   - 851,852,788 1,526,555

5,442,612,781 123,916,065 99,179,215 43,332,108 5,622,375,952 51,493,492

B)     For Tala Transmission Lines
THP 228,714,463 - - 76,238,154 152,476,308 35,945,361

THP- IDC 101,200,751 - - 33,733,584 67,467,168 -

329,915,214 - - 109,971,738 219,943,476 35,945,361

From National Pension and Provident Fund (Secured)
NPPF 377,347,500 - - 41,927,500 335,420,000 31,756,607

377,347,500 - - 41,927,500 335,420,000 31,756,607
Total 6,149,875,495 123,916,065 99,179,215 195,231,346 6,177,739,428 119,195,459

viii)	 Quantitative detail of purchase, generation and sales of power for the year is as under.

2016 2015
Units ( kWh) Amount Units ( kWh) Amount

Purchase 2,084.6880 1,408.26 2,100.9782 1,550.12
Hydel 11.2209 - 14.6759 -
DG -   - 0.0022 -
Sale 2,008.9012        4,771.65 2,057.1410          4,560.32
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38.	 Subsequent events

The Board of Directors has proposed a final dividend of Nu 176.17 per share for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2016. The total dividend of Nu. 1,449,029,909 is subject to approval of the 
members in the General Meeting to be held to adopt the financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2016.   These financial statements do not reflect this dividend payable.

In line with the Asset replacement policy of the Company, the Board of Directors has proposed an 
amount of Nu 6,322,506 to be transferred to Asset Replacement Reserve for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2016, which is calculated at 0.4% on the gross asset additions during the year. 
This is subject to approval of the members in the General Meeting to be held to adopt the financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements do not reflect this 
transfer.

The Board of Directors in the 100th Board meeting held on 2nd February 2017 approved the transfer 
of Land registered in the name of the Company measuring 50.405 acres at cost amounting to Nu 
6,879,841 to its holding company, Druk Holdings and Investment Limited. The transfer has been 
effected in the books of the Company as at the end of the reporting period by adjustment to the 
Retained Profit.

Signatures to ‘Notes 1 to 38’ of the Financial Statements
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors
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